BEFORE THE WEST VIRGNIA INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23 -

ICA EFiled: Mar 02 2023 04:23PM EST Transaction ID 69259948

KERMIT COLES (DECEASED) WANDA COLES, WIDOW

PETITIONER,

V.

CENTURY ALUMINUM OF WEST VIRGINIA INC, EMPLOYER.

RESPONDENT,

BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF APPEAL

John H. Skaggs (WVSB #3432) Calwell Luce diTrapano PLLC 500 Randolph Street Charleston, WV 25302 (304) 343-4323 jskaggs@cldlaw.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The Board of Review erred in finding that the Claimant had not met her burden of proof to show that her husband suffered death caused by an occupational disease, where she offered evidence of exposure, an expert opinion, and supporting scientific studies of the link between exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and bladder cancer, under *Bradford v. Workers' Compensation Comm'r*, Syl. Pt. 3, 185 W.Va. 434, 408 S.E.2d 13 (1991).

The Board of Review erred in failing to properly apply the holding in *Powell v. State Workmen's Compensation Commissioner*, 166 W.Va. 327, 273 S.E.2d 832 (1980) that W.Va. Code § 23-4-1 does not require the claimant to prove the conditions of his or her employment were the exclusive or sole cause of the disease nor does it require the claimant to show that the disease is peculiar to one industry, work environment, or occupation.

The Board of Review erred in finding that the Decedent's exposure was limited without the Employer making any findings regarding exposure, and was clearly wrong in light of the evidence offered by affidavit, social security earnings report, medical records, and expert report.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is the appeal from an adverse decision of the Workers Compensation Board of Review Entered February 2, 2023, affirming the order of the Third Party Administrator's Order dated September 22, 2020, which rejected the application of the Claimant for widow's and dependents' benefits. Appendix 000251 – 000252.

The Claimant filed a claim for widow's and dependents' benefits stating that the Claimant's Decedent suffered from bladder cancer caused or contributed to by exposure to polycyclic hydrocarbons in the course of his employment. The date of death was January 14,

1

2020. The cause of death is listed as metastatic urothelial cancer (bladder cancer.) Appendix

000165 - 000166.

The Claimant submitted evidence that Decedent was employed at Kaiser

Aluminum/Century Aluminum from 1988 to 2007. Appendix 000001 - 000009. The Claimant

submitted an affidavit from Patrick Coles, who worked with his father from 1986 to 1988, which

stated that:

1. That his name is Patrick Coles and his address is 170 Nellie Lane, Charleston, West Virginia, 25320.

2. His parents are Kermit Coles, deceased, and Wanda Coles.

3. His birthday is September 19, 1972.

4. He is currently employed as a firefighter and EMT for the City of Charleston.

S. That he lived with his parents until adulthood.

6. That he is familiar with his father's work from living with him and from working with him for two years, during which time the facility was Century Aluminum.

7. That his father worked in plant maintenance and also was assigned to the pot room as a maintenance worker on a regular basis after returning to work following the lock out.

8. That the affiant was also employed at the aluminum plant for two years in the 1996 to 1998 period, when he was employed as protection (security), fire fighter and EMT.

9. That in that two year period he would visit his father Kermit in the pot room and observe him present in the pot room, where the metal were mixed.

10. That based on his personal observation and conversations with his father, Kermit Coles was employed in the pot room on a regular basis throughout his years of employment, and continuously after the lockout.

11. That his father was present in the pot room while metals were being melted and molten product was being produced. Appendix 000178 – 000180.

The Claimant offered in evidence the Social Security Earnings Report, which documents

years of employment at the Employer. Appendix 000010 - 000014. The medical records include

a reference to the Decedent's work and smoking history: Patient is a 69-year-old Caucasian male

with one episode of gross hematuria in June, history of smoking and tobacco use, history of

occupational exposure to chemicals and hematospermla which has also resolved. Appendix

000036 - 000042 (CAMC Urology page 46). The medical records state that the Decedent

smoked for 42 years, quitting in 2007. Appendix 000080 - 000086 (Mayo Clinic 286)

The Claimant offered a report from Dr. Werntz dated April 21, 2021, which summarized

his work history as follows:

Work history: 1966 - 1972: US Army-truck driver-stationed at Fort Leonard Wood, Fort Ord, and in Germany. 1972 - 1980: Construction Plumber and Pipefitter (Trade Union – multiple worksites and employers) 1980 - 2007: Millwright, Maintenance, and Welder - Kaiser / Century I Ravenswood Aluminum

Appendix 000181 - 000186.

Dr. Werntz concluded:

Assessment of causation is the key factor in this matter. The best accepted approach is to use Hill's criteria. While several aspects apply only to populations, there are several aspects of Hill's Criteria that were assessed in assessing causation on this individual.

Temporality - Mr. Coles developed bladder cancer after exposure to the aluminum production activities, and with an appropriate latency period between the onset of exposure and development of disease.

Biologic Plausibility - There is a robust literature associating Bladder Cancer with PAH exposure, as well as exposure in aluminum production facilities.

Specificity & Consistency - The IARC monograph notes an association between aluminum production facilities and bladder and lung cancers, specifically. This claimant suffered from Bladder Cancer, one of these specific cancers.

MEDICAL OPINION

Mr. Coles' medical records clearly document that this gentleman was diagnosed with invasive bladder cancer in 2019 and died from his bladder cancer in early 2020. Mr. Cole worked for 27 years in an aluminum production facility as a millwright, welder, and maintenance person. Together these jobs would have had him spending most or all of his time in the aluminum production areas. It is my medical opinion that Mr. Coles' development of bladder cancer was significantly contributed to by his working in an aluminum production facility, including the potroom. Based upon the literature, it is my opinion that his risk of developing bladder cancer was significantly increased by his work in an aluminum production facility over what his risk would have been from smoking habit alone. It is my further opinion that without this additional risk from the aluminum manufacturing exposures it is less likely that he would have developed bladder cancer, the ultimate cause of his death.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is set forth in West Virginia Code § 23-5-12a(b) (2022), in part,

as follows:

The Intermediate Court of Appeals may affirm the order or decision of the Workers' Compensation Board of Review or remand the case for further proceedings. It shall reverse, vacate, or modify the order or decision of the Workers' Compensation Board of Review, if the substantial rights of the petitioner or petitioners have been prejudiced because the Board of Review's findings are:

(1) In violation of statutory provisions;

(2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the Board of Review;

(3) Made upon unlawful procedures;

(4) Affected by other error of law;

(5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or

(6) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As set forth below in more detail, the Claimant contends that she showed by affidavit and

report of Dr. Wertz that the Decedent had exposure to the hazards of occupational disease -

bladder cancer. The report of Dr. Werntz is well reasoned, based on a review of the relevant

medical records, IARC statements regarding exposure to polycyclic hydrocarbons, and by

application of the relevant Hill criteria to the case. The Claimant submitted in further support of

her claim a medical review of the literature regarding the occurrence of bladder cancer in

aluminum smelter workers. The BOR erred in failing to accord weight to the opinion of Dr.

Werntz, and to properly apply the holding of Bradford and Powell, supra.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument will significantly aid the decisional process with regard to the application

of the law to the facts and standards of appeal at issue.

ARGUMENT

THE OFFICE OF JUDGES AND THE BOARD OF REVIEW ERRED IN APPLYING BRADFORD V. WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMM'R, Syl. Pt. 3, 185 W.Va. 434, 408 S.E.2d 13 (1991), WHICH STATES THAT THE CLAIMANT IS ONLY REQUIRED TO PROVE THAT AN OCCUPATIONAL INJURY OR DISEASE CONTRIBUTED IN ANY MATERIAL DEGREE TO THE DEATH, AND POWELL V. STATE WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION COMMISSIONER, 166 W.VA. 327, 273 S.E.2D 832 (1980) WHICH HOLDS THAT A CLAIMANT IS NOT REQUIRED TO PROVE THAT AN OCCUPATIONAL EXPOSURE WAS THE SOLE OR EXCLUSIVE CAUSE OF THE DISEASE

In Bradford v. Workers' Compensation Comm'r, Syl. Pt. 3, 185 W.Va. 434, 408 S.E.2d 13

(1991), the Court held that in order to establish entitlement to dependent's benefits, a claimant must show that an occupational disease or injury "contributed in any material degree to the death."

The evidence shows that the Werntz report exceeded the standard required by *Bradford*. Here, the Claimant showed that the Decedent worked in an environment characterized by the

presence of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. As Dr. Werntz reported, the IRC has identified

these as human health hazards.

Dr. Werntz applied the well accepted principals to support his conclusions.

The West Virginia Workers Compensation Statute provides the following definition of disease:

(f) For the purposes of this chapter, occupational disease means a disease incurred in the course of and resulting from employment. No ordinary disease of life to which the general public is exposed outside of the employment is compensable except when it follows as an incident of occupational disease as defined in this chapter. Except in the case of occupational pneumoconiosis, a disease is considered to have been incurred in the course of or to have resulted from the employment only if it is apparent to the rational mind, upon consideration of all the circumstances: (1) That there is a direct causal connection between the conditions under which work is performed and the occupational disease: (2) that it can be seen to have followed as a natural incident of the work as a result of the exposure occasioned by the nature of the employment; (3) that it can be fairly traced to the employment as the proximate cause; (4) that it does not come from a hazard to which workmen would have been equally exposed outside of the employment; (5) that it is incidental to the character of the business and not independent of the relation of employer and employee; and (6) that it appears to have had its origin in a risk connected with the employment and to have flowed from that source as a natural consequence, though it need not have been foreseen or expected before its contraction...

W. Va. Code 23-4-1(f).

As the BOR decision notes, a 2014 study supports a finding of an increased risk for bladder cancer in "pot room" workers which showed a strong association with bladder cancer, but not in the United States. The BOR found the report more persuasive because there was no evidence of the length of exposure and the nature of the process. The BOR decision is clearly wrong in its findings regarding the study, which is in the record, and the Decedent's work history.

Here, the records clearly show that the Decedent had 27 years of work. The affidavit from the son states that based on his personal observation and conversations with his father, Kermit Coles was employed in the pot room on a regular basis throughout his years of employment, and continuously after the lockout:

11. That his father was present in the pot room while metals were being melted and molten product was being produced.

As set forth by Dr. Werntz, the issue is the exposure to fumes from melted and molten product, which was shown for Mr. Coles for many years. The distinction drawn by the BOR regarding the application of the study is clearly wrong. Under the description of the study by the Employer's expert, regarding the strong association of bladder cancer with pot room workers, the Claimant should be awarded benefits.

It is worth quoting at length the 2014 report, in light of the reliance of the BOR¹:

Coal tar pitch volatiles have been prominent agents for investigation in potrooms and carbon plants. More than 100 PARs have been identified in primary aluminum smelters, and most derive from the coal tar used as a binder in the carbon anodes.6 The composition of the anodes varies, with 25% to 30% pitch mixed with calcined petroleum coke, with proportions depending on raw material properties. The pitch contains as much as 20% PARs, and 19 PARs have been commonly found in the air of aluminum smelters, which included one established human carcinogen, one probable carcinogen, and seven PARs classified as possible human carcinogens (as of April 2013 according to the International Agency for Cancer Research [IARCD. Appendix 000015 – 000035 study page s40.

The study also notes that there are multiple sources of emissions from the smelting of

alumina:

Both CTPVs and PARs arise mainly from the electrodes, but potroom emissions also derive from the cryolite baths (which contain aluminum salts with fluorides), from the alumina (aluminum oxide and various elements), and from other operations during the smelting process. Reported exposures are varied: aluminum fluorides, fibrous sodium aluminum tetrafluoride particles, calcium fluoride, sulfur dioxide, carbon monoxide and dioxide, chlorine gas, trace metals (eg, beryllium, cadmium, chromium, copper, vanadium, mercury,

¹ The study clearly states, "While the processes used in various countries are essentially the same, raw material sources and the operating conditions in the various plants are likely to differ. In view of this, it was considered useful to examine what is known about cancer risks in various countries and then to combine the experience to better understand what risks exist overall in the primary aluminum production industry. Table 2 summarizes the published cohort studies available, by country or continent of origin of the study, and Table 3 presents a summary of the associations found for selected types of cancer." Appendix 000015 - 000035 s43.

and nickel), silica, and phenols.5,22

The study further states that there are larger measures of particles in the Soderburg

process than the prebake process. This does not read no measures of particles in the prebake, and

does not support the conclusion of the BOR.

The study concludes with regard to bladder cancer:

Bladder cancer: reasonably strong evidence (aluminum production) and limited evidence (CTPYs). There seems to be little doubt that when studies in Soderberg plants allow adequate follow-up time and workers have had adequate exposure in the potrooms, they are at an increased risk of bladder cancer. Indeed, there is evidence that bladder cancer is strongly associated with Soderberg potrooms in Canada and Norway, detected at statistically nonsignificant levels in the United States and France. Studies have shown that this risk increases with increasing exposure using the B(a)P index or BSM indices of exposure. In Quebec, the studies have also shown, in parallel with reducing B(a)P exposure, mortality and incidence of this cancer have reduced. These reductions may be related to earlier detection, better treatment, and reductions in exposure to B(a)P or agents correlated with this index, but the specific etiological factor remains unknown. Workers in the carbon plant were reported not to have an increased risk of bladder cancer,?1 and in spite oflong follow-up, there is no clear increase in bladder cancer incidence among Soderberg workers in Sweden. Comparison of raw materials and operating conditions may be useful. As bladder cancers are often associated with amines or nitro so compounds, these have been proposed as etiological factors, but studies have shown the potential for exposure to any significant quantity of these to be small, although plausible.86 Another possible explanation is an indirect dehydrating effect of heat on urine concentration. There is evidence that persons who drink large quantities of fluid are at a reduced risk of bladder cancer,87 and this has been linked to frequency of urination.88 Potroom work in the past involved considerable exposure to heat, a hazard that has reduced in parallel with B(a)P concentrations. Smoking has also been linked to bladder cancer risk, but while contributing to the risk, it does not totally explain the excess risk in CTPV-exposed workers. The jury on the specific etiological factor in bladder cancer is still out.

Soot and coal tar pitch have been associated with limited human

evidence to bladder cancer.85 This evidence comes in large part from the aluminum industry studies. Appendix 000015 – 000035 study page s57.

In fact, the study concluded that,

It is now clear that cancers of the lung and the bladder are associated with work in most Soderberg potrooms, and there are indications that prebake plants should be further investigated for these cancers taking into account smoking and excluding carbon plants. Cancer incidence studies are preferable as some causes such as bladder cancer do not always result in death and other outcomes may not be detected using mortality only. Furthermore, it is preferable to find any cancer excess as early as possible so that preventive actions might reduce future risks.

The BOR decision mischaracterizes the study:

The 2014 study by Gibbs and Labreche regarding the increased risk of bladder cancer in aluminum workers, was discussed' by both Dr. Werntz and Dr. Lultschik. Dr. Lultschik relied on this report to support her conclusion that it is more likely than not that the employee's bladder cancer was not caused by his employment at Century. In this regard, she noted that she did not have quantitation of the hours of exposure to CTPV per day or week during the employee's time of employment and there was no information regarding whether Century used the pre bake process or the older Soderberg process. Dr. Lultschik further indicated that Gibbs and Labreche noted that studies in Soderberg potrooms from Canada and Norway show a strong association of exposure with bladder cancer, but that bladder cancer was detected at statistically nonsignificant levels in the United States.

Dr. Lultschik provides more specifics about the 2014 study and the distinction in the risks for exposure to carcinogens between the "prebake" and the "Soderberg" processes. The evidence does not show which process was used by Century during the employee's time at Century, and there is no evidence regarding the extent of the employee's exposure to CTPV. Accordingly, Dr. Lultschik's report is more detailed and persuasive than the report by Dr. Werntz.

The fact that the employee worked in the aluminum plant is not alone sufficient to establish causation of his bladder cancer. Although the claimant does not have to establish that the conditions of the employee's employment were the exclusive or sole cause of the disease, she has not shown a direct causal connection between the employee's work and his development of bladder cancer. The claimant has not met her burden of proof. The order of September 22, 2020, is affirmed.

As set forth above, the study supports the clear conclusion that exposure to smelting

aluminum causes bladder cancer, due to the presence of PAH's and number other constituents of

the material and equipment used in the process.

Crucially, the BOR decision does not address the discussion of the IARC report cited by

Dr. Werntz:

Working in aluminum production has been determined by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) to be a class 1 - Known Human Carcinogen. IARC will periodically update their assessments, and their most recent review of current data and opinion on cancer in aluminum production workers is found in Monograph 100F-22 (2018) 1. They concluded: There is sufficient evidence in humans for the carcinogenicity of occupational exposures during aluminum production.

Occupational exposures during aluminum production cause cancer of bladder, and of the lung.

Dr. Werntz stated,

Reading IARC Monograph 100F-22 carefully, there are several key points relevant to this claimant. First is that their conclusions reflect the entirely of aluminum production, and that there is insufficient data to identify specific individual exposures, aspects of aluminum production, or particular chemical agents that are causative. Second, that there are several apparent carcinogens present in aluminum production, including PAH, potroom dust, and benzo(a)pyrene. In studies of exposed workforces, the elevated bladder cancer risk was seen across the production activities. Finally, several Canadian studies of aluminum workers they note that the elevated risk of bladder cancer persists, even when corrected for smoking status. Appendix 000181 – 000186.

Under Powell, the Claimant is not required to prove that Decedent's exposure was the

sole or exclusive cause of his disease. Powell states:

The employer's argument on the burden of persuasion in an occupational disease case is also unavailing. First, this contention is not supported by the statutory language. W. Va. Code § 23-4-1 does not require a claimant to prove that the conditions of his employment were the exclusive or sole cause of the disease nor does it require the claimant to show that the disease is peculiar to one industry, work environment, or occupation. Although evidence pertaining to cigarette smoking may be relevant in determining whether the statutory standards have been met, the claimant need not negative all possible non-occupational causes of

the disease. We rejected that argument in Syllabus Point 1 of *Myers v. State Workmen's Compensation Comm'r.*, supra, where we held:

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