CIPRIANI & WERNER

A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

500 Lee Street East, Suite 900 Charleston, WV 25301

> Phone: (304) 341-0500 Fax: (304) 341-0507

ICA EFiled: Apr 03 2023 04:59PM EDT Transaction ID 69721543 Visit us online at www.C-WLAW.com

April 3, 2023

The Honorable Daniel Greear, Chief Judge West Virginia Intermediate Court of Appeals WV Judicial Tower 4700 MacCorkle Ave, SE Charleston, WV 24304

> RE: <u>Kermit Coles (deceased) v. Century Aluminum of West Virginia, Inc.</u> Appeal No: No. 23-ICA-81 Claim No.: C6720710144-01 JCN No.: 2021006800

Dear Judge Greear:

T. JONATHAN COOK, ESQ.

tcook@c-wlaw.com

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal is simply an occupational disease claim involving the application of W. Va. Code § 23-4-1(f) which sets forth six elements to be eligible for benefits: "(1) that there is a direct causal connection between the conditions under which work is performed and the occupational disease, (2) that it can be seen to have followed as a natural incident of the work as a result of the exposure occasioned by the nature of the employment, (3) that it can be fairly traced to the employment as the proximate cause, (4) that it does not come from a hazard to which workmen would have been equally exposed outside of the employment, (5) that it is incidental to the character of the business and not independent of the relation of an employer and employee, and (6) that it must appear to have had its origin in the risk connected with the employment and to have flowed from that source as a natural consequence, though it need not have been foreseen or expected before its contraction." Pursuant to W. Va. Code 23-4-1g, the BOR must evaluate evidence and determine whether a claimant proved his or her claim by a preponderance of the evidence. When the BOR evaluates a claim, it utilizes a "process of weighing evidence [which] include[s], but [is] not be limited to, an assessment of the relevance, credibility, materiality and reliability that the evidence possesses in the context of the issue presented." <u>Wilkinson v. OIC & Putnam County Bd of Educ,</u> 222 W.Va. 394, 401, 664 S.E.2d 735, 742 (2008) (quoting 23-4-1g(a)). After weighing the evidence, the BOR found the Dependent fell short of establishing all six elements of an occupational disease and affirmed the denial of her claim. The BOR did not err by making that finding.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The facts and legal arguments are adequately presented by the Employer's brief and the record before the Court. Therefore, Century, by counsel, respectfully submits that oral argument is not needed for this appeal.

V. ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

The standard of review applicable to this Board's review of an OOJ's decision is set forth

under W. Va. Code § 23-5-12(b) which provides:

[The Board of Review] shall reverse, vacate, or modify the order or decision of the administrative law judge if the substantial rights of the petitioner or petitioners have been prejudiced because the administrative law judge's findings are: (1) In violation of statutory provisions; or (2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the administrative law judge; or (3) Made upon unlawful procedures; or (4) Affected by other error of law; or (5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or (6) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

W. Va. Code § 23-5-12(b).

A. The BOR correctly found the dependent did not prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Mr. Coles developed an occupational disease when the expert evidence showed it was more likely than not that his bladder cancer was either naturally occurring or related to his robust smoking history.

Mrs. Coles first assignment of error states the ". . . [BOR] erred in applying <u>Bradford v.</u> <u>Workers' Compensation Comm'r</u>, Syl. Pt 3, 185 W. Va. 434, 408 S.E.2d 13 (1991), which states that the claimant is only required to prove that an occupational injury or disease contributed in any material degree to the death and <u>Powell v. State Workmen's Compensation Commissioner</u>, 166 W. Va. 327, 273 S.E.2d 832 (1980) which holds that a claimant is not required to prove that an occupational exposure was the sole or exclusive cause of the disease." This assignment of error is framed to suggest an error of law rather what is nothing more than the dependent's disagreement over the manner in which the BOR weighed the evidence. Moreover, the dependent wants to revive the old rule of liberality rather than its replacement, W. Va. Code § 23-4-1g requiring proof by a preponderance of the evidence. <u>City of Wheeling v. Marriner</u>, No. 14–0498, (W. Va. Sup. Ct. 2015). The order shows the BOR did not commit reversible error in its Order.

First, the dependent characterizes her burden in the terms of an evidentiary standard eliminated by the Legislature with its enactment of W. Va. § 23-4-1g(b)("Except as provided in subsection (a) of this section, a claim for compensation filed pursuant to this chapter must be decided on its merit and not according to any principle that requires statutes governing workers' compensation to be liberally construed because they are remedial in nature. No such principle may be used in the application of law to the facts of a case arising out of this chapter or in determining the constitutionality of this chapter."). Here, the dependent's brief does not state but strongly suggests the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals decisions in <u>Bradford</u>, supra, and <u>Powell</u>, supra, do not require proof by a preponderance of the evidence. Rather the dependent believes evidence which merely implies the possibility of a relationship between some type of

exposure and a disease is sufficient to establish compensability. Such a characterization is inaccurate especially when looking at the basis of both decisions. Specifically, the <u>Powell</u> court stated:

And finally in <u>Myers v. State Workmen's Compensation Comm'r</u>, 160 W. Va. 766, 239 S.E.2d 124 (1977), we held that claimant's noise-induced gradual hearing loss was an occupational disease under the statute. In making this ruling we held it was not necessary for the claimant to prove that his hearing loss was not attributable completely to his age, and held that "it is not claimant's burden to negative all possible non-occupational causes of his injury. Id. at _____, 239 S.E.2nd at 127.

The <u>Myers</u> Court stated: "In applying the statute to the undisputed facts in this case, we begin with a fundamental rule of workmen's compensation law. A spirit of liberality is to be employed in applying the provisions of the Workmen's Compensation Act and in construing the evidence. This principle dictates that this Court examine the record and give the claimant the benefit of all reasonable inferences the record will admit favorable to him." 160 W. Va. at 770, 239 S.E.2d at 126. The <u>Powell</u> Court and <u>Bradford</u> Courts, which relied on <u>Myers</u>, also applied the rule of liberality in both decisions undermining both rulings on compensability. The option of applying the rule of liberality is no longer available. The finder-of-fact must apply W. Va. Code § 23-4-1g, which states:

(a) For all awards made on or after the effective date of the amendment and reenactment of this section during the year two thousand three, resolution of any issue raised in administering this chapter shall be based on a weighing of all evidence pertaining to the issue and a finding that a preponderance of the evidence supports the chosen manner of resolution. The process of weighing evidence shall include, but not be limited to, an assessment of the relevance, credibility, materiality and reliability that the evidence possesses in the context of the issue presented. Under no circumstances will an issue be resolved by allowing certain evidence to be dispositive simply because it is reliable and is most favorable to a party's interests or position. If, after weighing all of the evidence regarding an issue in which a claimant has an interest, there is a finding that an equal amount of evidentiary weight exists favoring conflicting

matters for resolution, the resolution that is most consistent with the claimant's position will be adopted.

Here, the finder-of-fact applied the preponderance of evidence standard to the record and concluded the most reasoned and supported opinion was offered by Dr. Lultschik whose report was supported by scientific studies showing cigarette smoking, a habit the deceased worker engaged in for 42 years, accounted for 50 to 65% of all cases of urothelial carcinoma of the bladder and was the "single strongest risk factor for developing this type of cancer." **EX 2 at 7-8**. Moreover, the finder-of-fact found medical literature which supported Dr. Lultschik that bladder cancer was "detected at statistically nonsignificant levels in the United States." The deceased worker worker at a facility in Ravenswood, WV. Thus, between the two possible risk factors, cigarette smoking overwhelmingly causes bladder cancer at a much higher rate than any other potential cause and bladder cancer is statistically nonsignificant for potroom workers in the United States. The BOR's finding:

The fact that the employee worked in the aluminum plant is not alone sufficient to establish causation of his bladder cancer. Although the claimant does not have to establish that the conditions of the employee's employment were the exclusive or sole cause of the disease, she has not shown a direct causal connection between the employee's work and his development of bladder cancer. The claimant has not met her burden of proof. The order of September 22, 2020, is affirmed.

is supported by substantial evidence. <u>See Board of Education of the County of Mercer v.</u> <u>Wert</u>, 192 W.Va. 568, 579, 453 S.E.2d 402, 413 (1994)("As a general rule, we uphold the factual findings of an ALJ if they are supported by substantial evidence.... We must defer to the ALJ's credibility determinations and inferences from the evidence, despite our perception of the other more reasonable conclusions from the evidence."). In sum, while the claimant may disagree with the assignment of weight to the evidence and hoped for a different outcome, a disagreement on the weight assigned to each piece of evidence is no sufficient to overturn the BOR's decision.

Second, the expert opinion relied upon by the dependent is weak. Dr. Werntz stated in his report that Mr. Coles's bladder cancer was "significantly contributed to by his working in an aluminum production facility, including the potroom." The evidence does not support Dr. Werntz. There was no information from the medical records (CAMC and Mayo Clinic) which suggested a relationship between Mr. Coles's bladder cancer and a workplace exposure. The study supporting Dr. Lultschik's report found incidents of bladder cancer connected to pot rooms in the United States were statistically "nonsignificant." Lastly, Mrs. Coles did not offer evidence of the type of process used at Century (prebake versus Soderberg). It is not Century's burden to establish no relationship exists between the bladder cancer and Mr. Coles's workplace. To the contrary, the dependent has the burden of establishing each and every element of an occupational disease and that the occupational disease caused Mr. Coles's death. Simply put, the dependent omitted that critical information here. The dependent's case has many holes regarding Mr. Coles's actual workplace exposure and the sufficiency of the same to the bladder cancer. Conversely, the record establishes the number one cause of bladder cancer is cigarette smoking and Mr. Coles's engaged in that habit for the majority of his life (one pack per day for 42 years). The BOR's order shows a command of the record and correctly affirmed the denial of the claim.

B. The BOR correctly found the dependent did not prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Mr. Coles had sufficient exposure to any hazard, other than tobacco smoke, to cause bladder cancer.

Mrs. Coles second assignment of error states the "The Board or Review erred in finding that the decedent's exposure was limited without the employer making any findings regarding exposure and was clearly wrong in light of the evidence offered by affidavit, social security earnings report, medical records, and expert report." In other words, the dependent wants this Court to impermissibly switch the burden to the employer to prove the elements of an occupational disease do not exist. This assignment of error violates W. Va. Code § 23-4-1g and is inconsistent with decisions of the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals which squarely place the burden of proof on the claimant to prove each and every element of an occupational injury or occupational disease. See e.g., Syl pt. 3, Deverick v. State Workmen's Compensation Director, 150 W. Va. 145, 144 S.E.2d 498 (1965) ("In order to establish compensability an employee who suffers a disability in the course of his employment must show by competent evidence that there was a causal connection between such disability and his employment").

In addition, each and every piece of evidence offered by the dependent was reviewed by Dr. Lultschik who was familiar with Mr. Coles's medical history, social history (42 pack/year smoker), and employment history. Dr. Lultschik decidedly concluded cigarette smoking, the overwhelming cause of bladder cancer, was the likely cause of Mr. Coles's cancer. Moreover, Dr. Lultschik cited scientific studies which showed workers performing similar jobs to the deceased worker in potrooms in the United States were not more likely than the general public to develop bladder cancer. This is a critical piece of evidence which Dr. Werntz was unable to overcome. Moreover, the dependent did not submit any evidence to refute this study or Dr. Lultschik's opinion on this issue.

The exposure issue was developed below, and the finder-of-fact concluded the evidence did not establish a causal connection between Mr. Coles's employment at Century Aluminum and his bladder cancer. Moreover, to the extent <u>Powell</u> states the following::

Unlike traumatic injuries, the causal connection for occupational diseases must be established by showing exposure at the workplace sufficient to cause the disease and that the disease actually resulted in the particular case. The standard for determining that connection is defined in W. Va. Code § 23-4-1, as whether the connection appears to the rational mind to meet the six factor test set out in the code. Whether a disease appears causally related to employment in the eyes of the rational mind will turn on the state of current

scientific knowledge. <u>Utter v. Asten-Hill Manufacturing</u> Co., 453 Pa. 401, 309 A.2d 583 (1973).

166 W.Va. at 336, 273 S.E.2d at 837, the scientific and medical evidence in this case establishes the dependent did not meet all each and every element of an occupational disease defined by W. Va. Code § 23-4-1(f) (1) That there is a direct causal connection between the conditions under which work is performed and the occupational disease; (2) that it can be seen to have followed as a natural incident of the work as a result of the exposure occasioned by the nature of the employment; (3) that it can be fairly traced to the employment as the proximate cause; (4) that it does not come from a hazard to which workmen would have been equally exposed outside of the employment; (5) that it is incidental to the character of the business and not independent of the relation of employer and employee; and (6) that it appears to have had its origin in a risk connected with the employment and to have flowed from that source as a natural consequence, though it need not have been foreseen or expected before its contraction...."

VI. CONCLUSION

The record establishes the number one cause of bladder cancer is cigarette smoking and Mr. Coles's engaged in that habit for the majority of his life (one pack per day for 42 years). The BOR did not commit reversible. Century, therefore, requests this Court to affirm the BOR's order dated February 2, 2023.